
Willard Library 
Board of Trustees 

Meeting Agenda 
March 20, 2024 

5:00 p.m. 
Willard Library Programming Room, Second Floor 

Michelle Herzing 

Kathy Domenico 

Matt Willis 

Administrative Team 

I. Approval of Minutes * (pg. 1)

II. Public Comments

III. Financial Report
a. Approval of Expenditures * (pg. 3)
b. Budget Amendment * (pg. 18)
c. Approval of IRS Form 990 * (pg. 34)

IV. Proposed Updates to the Board of Trustees Policy Manual 
(pg. 67)

V. Reports & Recommendations
a. Department Reports (pg. 72)

VI. Other Business

VII. Comments by Trustees

VIII. Adjourn Michelle Herzing 

Action items indicated by an * 



WILLARD PUBLIC LIBRARY BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

January 1 7, 2024 
Willard Library Programming Room, Second Floor 

BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

Michelle Herzing, Kathy Baker, Judith Williamson, Salli Baltutat, Laura Williams 

ADMINISTRATION 

Director Matt Willis, Deputy Director April Dillinger, Director of Finance Kathy Domenico, Director of Youth 
Services and Community Engagement Tynisha Dungey, Director of IT and Facilities Chad Osborn, Director 
of Circulation Amanda Paffhausen, Executive Administrative Assistant Kara Brooker 

MINUTES 

Michelle Herzing called the meeting to order at 5:00 p.m. 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

Judith Williamson moved, with support from Salli Baltutat, to approve the minutes of the Board Meeting of 
November 15, 2023.

Motion approved 5 - 0 
PUBLIC COMMENT 

No public comment. 

FINANCIAL REPORT 

Kathy Domenico presented the November and December 2023 Financial Report. Revenue as of 
November 30 totaled just over $3. 7 million with property taxes being the majority of that total. 
Expenditures as of November 30 totaled just over $2.8 million with a transfer of $100,000 to the Capital 
Projects fund for future renovations. Revenue as of December 31 totaled just over $3. 7 million. At this 
point, the library has received approximately 62% of the anticipated revenue for the year. Expenditures as 
of December 31 totaled just over $3.2 million. As of December 31, the Other funds reflect the interest 
activity and the transfer from the General Fund into the Capital Improvement Fund. 

Laura Williams moved, with a second from Kathy Baker, to approve the November and December 2023 
expenditures as presented. 

Motion approved 5 - 0 
REPORTS & RECOMMENDATIONS

Chad Osborn presented the downtown lighting upgrade estimate of $50,000. 

Salli Baltutat moved, with a second from Judith Williamson, to approve the downtown lighting upgrade. 

Motion approved 5 - 0 
REPORTS & RECOMMENDATIONS

April Dillinger presented the FY 23/24 second quarter statistics. Materials circulation, foot traffic, program 
attendance, and public computer usage increased. April also reported on high impact programs and 
services. 

Matt Willis gave a Director's Report, which involved the hiring of Library Design Consultants to develop 
various components of a multiyear renovation plan. Laura Williams recommended collecting input from 
library users during the planning phase for floorplan layout and functional design. 

1



2



WILLARD PUBLIC LIBRARY
STATEMENT OF REVENUE AND EXPENDITURES
REVENUE

January 2024

         BUDGET  2023/2024 YTD         % YTD VARIANCE      2022/2023 YTD  

Taxes   4,994,192 3,407,178 68.22% 1,587,014 3,068,013
Casino PILT Disbursement 150,000 0 0.00% 150,000 0
State Sources 579,341 496,338 85.67% 83,003 487,548
Penal Fines  110,000 28,365 25.79% 81,635 24,594
Fees and Book Fines 50,000 31,346 62.69% 18,654 34,778
Local Contributions & Contracts 195,000 140,857 72.23% 54,143 50,758
Grant Funding 2,000 0 0.00% 2,000 10,692
Transfer to GF from Kellogg 0 0 0.00% 0 75,675
Transfer to GF from Capital Projects 0 0 0.00% 0 0
Transfer to GF from Endowment 0 0 0.00% 0 0

TOTAL 6,080,533 4,104,084 67.50% 1,976,449            3,752,058

EXPENDITURES
          BUDGET  2023/2024 YTD         % YTD VARIANCE      2022/2023 YTD  

Total Expenditures 6,441,573 3,668,670 56.95% 2,772,903 3,439,664

REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES 435,414

VARIANCES (+/-)  Current in Bold  

3



WILLARD PUBLIC LIBRARY
STATEMENT OF REVENUE AND EXPENDITURES

January 2024

EXPENDITURES
     BUDGET  2023/2024 YTD      % YTD VARIANCE  2022/2023 YTD

Capital Expenditures 271,592 150,399 55.38% 121,193 141,129
Program Svs-Av, Books & Periodicals   989,150 513,956 51.96% 475,194 484,972
Program Svs-Imagination Library 15,500 15,500 100.00% 0 15,500
Personnel  3,696,200 2,198,219 59.47% 1,497,981 2,140,636
Office Supplies  50,500 24,301 48.12% 26,199 21,232
Repairs & Maintenance Supplies   38,000 21,895 57.62% 16,105 18,629
Purchased Services 692,500 356,984 51.55% 335,516 346,186
Communications  117,000 49,815 42.58% 67,185 55,119
Insurance 27,768 27,768 100.00% 0 25,267
Public Utilities    128,000 48,916 38.22% 79,084 49,139
Repairs & Maintenance Services 234,650 160,919 68.58% 73,731 141,855
Other Expenses (SBIT's) 80,713 0 0.00% 80,713 0
Transfers to Capital Projects 100,000 100,000 100.00% 0 0

TOTAL 6,441,573          3,668,670          56.95% 2,772,903 3,439,664

VARIANCES (+/-)  Current in Bold 

4



Expenditures by check  197,364.03

ELECTRONIC PAYMENTS (ACH)

Net payroll transfer 115,555.71

FICA & Federal withholding tax 37,734.63

State withholding tax 5,620.40

Battle Creek City withholding tax 1,113.04

MERS Retirement System 24,264.65

MERS Pension Funding 0.00

MPSERS Retirement System 2,846.72

MPSERS UAAL RATE STABILIZATION 0.00

Michigan Unemployment 0.00

OMNI (403 (b) 3rd party administrator) 100.00

BASIC  (125 Plan 3rd party administrator) 3,440.66

MERS (Employee 457) 3,103.20

Friend of the Court 355.60

5th/3rd BANK  (credit card) 3,309.49

Health Equity Employer Serv. 1,257.60

MESSA 53,540.88

Unum Life Insurance 572.16

Total Disbursements 450,178.77

GENERAL FUND DISBURSEMENTS

SUMMARY OF DISBURSEMENTS JANUARY 2024

WILLARD PUBLIC LIBRARY

5



6



7



8



9



WILLARD PUBLIC LIBRARY
STATEMENT OF REVENUE AND EXPENDITURES
REVENUE

February 2024

         BUDGET  2023/2024 YTD         % YTD VARIANCE      2022/2023 YTD  

Taxes   4,994,192 4,530,496 90.72% 463,696 3,391,214
Casino PILT Disbursement 150,000 0 0.00% 150,000 0
State Sources 579,341 498,047 85.97% 81,294 487,548
Penal Fines  110,000 50,794 46.18% 59,206 24,594
Fees and Book Fines 50,000 36,327 72.65% 13,673 40,080
Local Contributions & Contracts 195,000 171,807 88.11% 23,193 56,438
Grant Funding 2,000 0 0.00% 2,000 10,692
Transfer to GF from Kellogg 0 0 0.00% 0 75,675
Transfer to GF from Capital Projects 0 0 0.00% 0 0
Transfer to GF from Endowment 0 0 0.00% 0 0

TOTAL 6,080,533 5,287,470 86.96% 793,063 4,086,241

EXPENDITURES
          BUDGET  2023/2024 YTD         % YTD VARIANCE      2022/2023 YTD  

Total Expenditures 6,441,573 4,082,590 63.38% 2,358,983 3,854,484

REVENUE OVER EXPENDITURES 1,204,880

VARIANCES (+/-)  Current in Bold  

10



WILLARD PUBLIC LIBRARY
STATEMENT OF REVENUE AND EXPENDITURES

February 2024

EXPENDITURES
     BUDGET  2023/2024 YTD      % YTD VARIANCE  2022/2023 YTD

Capital Expenditures  271,592 167,055 61.51% 104,537 156,709
Program Svs-Av, Books & Periodicals   989,150 557,995 56.41% 431,155 555,417
Program Svs-Imagination Library 15,500 15,500 100.00% 0 15,500
Personnel  3,696,200 2,453,651 66.38% 1,242,549 2,397,727
Office Supplies  50,500 28,416 56.27% 22,084 24,951
Repairs & Maintenance Supplies   38,000 29,986 78.91% 8,014 22,755
Purchased Services 692,500 411,005 59.35% 281,495 382,263
Communications  117,000 57,402 49.06% 59,598 66,231
Insurance 27,768 27,768 100.00% 0 25,267
Public Utilities    128,000 58,962 46.06% 69,038 59,778
Repairs & Maintenance Services 234,650 174,850 74.52% 59,800 147,887
Other Expenses (SBIT's) 80,713 0 0.00% 80,713 0
Transfers to Capital Projects 100,000 100,000 100.00% 0 0

TOTAL  6,441,573          4,082,590          63.38% 2,358,983 3,854,484

VARIANCES (+/-)  Current in Bold 

11



Expenditures by check  395,252.00

ELECTRONIC PAYMENTS (ACH)

Net payroll transfer 120,058.39

FICA & Federal withholding tax 38,698.38

State withholding tax 6,088.67

Battle Creek City withholding tax 1,169.37

MERS Retirement System 24,790.94

MERS Pension Funding 0.00

MPSERS Retirement System 2,960.20

MPSERS UAAL RATE STABILIZATION 0.00

Michigan Unemployment 0.00

OMNI (403 (b) 3rd party administrator) 100.00

BASIC  (125 Plan 3rd party administrator) 4,180.24

MERS (Employee 457) 3,103.20

Friend of the Court 355.60

5th/3rd BANK  (credit card) 12,413.06

Health Equity Employer Serv. 1,257.70

MESSA 50,964.63

Unum Life Insurance 572.16

Total Disbursements 661,964.54

GENERAL FUND DISBURSEMENTS

SUMMARY OF DISBURSEMENTS FEBRUARY 2024

WILLARD PUBLIC LIBRARY

12



13



14



15



16



WILLARD LIBRARY
2023/2024 at 2.0 Mills

July 2023 November 2023 March 2024
Original Amendment Propsed Amendment

REVENUE & TRANSFERS

Taxes $4,994,192 $4,994,192 $5,000,692
State Sources $463,302 $579,341 $586,339
Penal Fines $110,000 $110,000 $110,000
Fees and Book Fines $50,000 $50,000 $50,000
Casino PILT Disbursement $150,000 $150,000 $150,000
Local Contributions, Contracts, & Other $60,000 $195,000 $241,000
Grant Revenue $2,000 $2,000 $2,000
Transfers into General Fund from Kellogg SRF $0 $0 $0
Transfers into General Fund from Owen Endowment $0 $0 $0
Transfers into General Fund from Capital Improvements $0 $0 $0
Total Revenue $5,829,494 $6,080,533 $6,140,031

EXPENDITURES & TRANSFERS

Other Expenditures-SBITA's $0 $80,713 $80,713
Capital Expenditures $129,784 $271,592 $298,592
Program Services: Media, Books & Periodicals $990,650 $989,150 $989,150
Program Services: Grants $15,500 $15,500 $15,500
Personnel* $3,596,200 $3,696,200 $3,663,200
Office Supplies $50,500 $50,500 $50,500
Repairs & Maintenance Supplies $38,000 $38,000 $43,000
Purchased Services $692,500 $692,500 $718,500
Communications $79,000 $117,000 $117,000
Insurance $27,768 $27,768 $27,768
Public Utilities $128,000 $128,000 $128,000
Repairs & Maintenance Services $203,885 $234,650 $303,635
Transfers from General Fund into Capital Improvements $0 $100,000 $100,000
Total Expenditures $5,951,787 $6,441,573 $6,535,558
*Includes staff increases per contract.

Revenue over Expenditures (+/-) ($122,293) ($361,040) ($395,527)

Fund Balance: Beginning Year $3,582,244 $3,999,402 $3,999,402

Fund Balance: Year End $3,459,951 $3,638,362 $3,603,875

Breakdown: Estimated Fund Balance
Sick Payable Reserve $204,000 $204,000 $204,000
Cash Flow Fund $892,768 $966,236 $980,334
Unrestricted Fund $2,363,183 $2,468,126 $2,419,541
Total $3,459,951 $3,638,362 $3,603,875

WILLARD PUBLIC LIBRARY
2023/2024 at 2.0 Mills

17



Amendment Amendment Changes
November 2023 March 2024

Revenue 6,080,533$              6,140,031$            59,498$  
Expenditure 6,441,573$              6,535,558$            (93,985)$  
Total Revenue/Expenditures (361,040)$  (395,527)$              (34,487)$  

 Fund Balance July 1, 2023 3,999,402$              
 Fund Balance June 30, 2024 (estimated) 3,603,875$              

Increases: Decreases:

*Property Taxes 6,500$  
*State Aid 6,998$  
*Local Contributions 46,000$  

Total Revenue Changes 59,498$  

Increases: Decreases: 

*Capital Expenditures (27,000)$  *Supporting Services: Personnel 33,000$     
*Repair & Maintenance Supplies (5,000)$  
*Purchased Services (26,000)$  
*Repair & Maintenance Services (68,985)$  

Total Expenditure Changes (93,985)$  

WILLARD PUBLIC LIBRARY
2023 - 2024 GENERAL FUND REVENUE & EXPENDITURE CHANGES

REVENUE CHANGES

EXPENDITURE CHANGES

18



Battle Creek Community Foundation    32 West Michigan Avenue, Suite 1     Battle Creek, Michigan 49017
Phone: (269) 962-2181     Fax: (269) 962-2182     Email: development@bccfoundation.org     Website: www.bccfoundation.org

Katherine A Domenico
Director of Finance
Willard Library
7 W Van Buren St
Battle Creek, MI 49017

Quarterly Report - Willard Library Fund - Master
October 01, 2023 - December 31, 2023
Thank you for being our partner in philanthropy by establishing a fund with the Battle Creek Community Foundation 
(BCCF). Your Fund’s statement of activity for October 01, 2023 - December 31, 2023 is enclosed.  

Investment Performance and Oversight
The Battle Creek Community Foundation portfolio returned 9.52%* compared to a market benchmark of 9.75% for 
the quarter ended December 31, 2023. Total Fiscal YTD returns from April 1, 2023 – December 31, 2023, are 
10.16%. The rate of return is reflected in the “Investment Earnings” section of the enclosed fund statement. *The 
actual value of the return for this fund may vary from the overall portfolio due to the timing of contributions to and 
distributions from the fund.

IRA Charitable Distribution Limit Increase
Did you know that for donors 70 ½ that qualify to make charitable distributions from their IRAs, that in 2024, IRA 
qualified charitable distribution (QCD) transfers for outright gifts are now permitted up to $105,000 and up to 
$53,000 for the one-time election of a QCD to a Charitable Gift Annuity or Charitable Remainder Trust.

Volunteers Needed
Did you know that BCCF has over 20 volunteer led committees that support the operations, grantmaking and 
scholarship functions of the Foundation? If you or someone you know is interested in learning more about 
volunteering on one of these committees, please contact Danni at danni@bccfoundation.org. 

As always please contact us should you have questions regarding your statement or if we can be of further assistance 
to you. 

Elizabeth Schultheiss, VP of Fund Administration & Development
elizabeth@bccfoundation.org or 269.962.2181 x 140

19



Fund Statement
Willard Library Fund - Master

For the Period October 01, 2023 - December 31, 2023
Generated on: 01/25/2024

Current Period
October 01, 2023 - 

December 31, 2023

Year To Date
April 01, 2023 - 

December 31, 2023

Beginning Fund Balance $844,099.19 $878,674.45
ADDITIONS:

 Investment Earnings 76,315.34 83,401.61

Total Additions 76,315.34 83,401.61

DISTRIBUTIONS:
 Administrative Fees 2,105.45 6,341.43

 Bank & Merchant Service Fees 4.94 10.49

 Grants Awarded 0.00 37,420.00

Total Distributions 2,110.39 43,771.92
Ending Fund Balance $918,304.14 $918,304.14

This statement is preliminary and unaudited.

Accumulated Gifts & Contributions to Principal 805,166.04

Accumulated Earnings less Expenditures 113,138.10

Accumulated Spendable 0.00

Ending Fund Balance $918,304.14

20



Fund Activity
Willard Library Fund - Master

For the Period October 01, 2023 - December 31, 2023
Generated on: 01/25/2024

GIFTS AND GRANTS RECEIVED DETAIL

No gifts or grants received this period.

GRANTS AWARDED DETAIL

No grants awarded for the statement period.

21



Battle Creek Community Foundation    32 West Michigan Avenue, Suite 1     Battle Creek, Michigan 49017
Phone: (269) 962-2181     Fax: (269) 962-2182     Email: development@bccfoundation.org     Website: www.bccfoundation.org

Katherine A Domenico
Director of Finance
Willard Library
7 W Van Buren St
Battle Creek, MI 49017

Quarterly Report - Willard Library Fund - Organizational
October 01, 2023 - December 31, 2023
Thank you for being our partner in philanthropy by establishing a fund with the Battle Creek Community Foundation 
(BCCF). Your Fund’s statement of activity for October 01, 2023 - December 31, 2023 is enclosed.  

Investment Performance and Oversight
The Battle Creek Community Foundation portfolio returned 9.52%* compared to a market benchmark of 9.75% for 
the quarter ended December 31, 2023. Total Fiscal YTD returns from April 1, 2023 – December 31, 2023, are 
10.16%. The rate of return is reflected in the “Investment Earnings” section of the enclosed fund statement. *The 
actual value of the return for this fund may vary from the overall portfolio due to the timing of contributions to and 
distributions from the fund.

IRA Charitable Distribution Limit Increase
Did you know that for donors 70 ½ that qualify to make charitable distributions from their IRAs, that in 2024, IRA 
qualified charitable distribution (QCD) transfers for outright gifts are now permitted up to $105,000 and up to 
$53,000 for the one-time election of a QCD to a Charitable Gift Annuity or Charitable Remainder Trust.

Volunteers Needed
Did you know that BCCF has over 20 volunteer led committees that support the operations, grantmaking and 
scholarship functions of the Foundation? If you or someone you know is interested in learning more about 
volunteering on one of these committees, please contact Danni at danni@bccfoundation.org. 

As always please contact us should you have questions regarding your statement or if we can be of further assistance 
to you. 

Elizabeth Schultheiss, VP of Fund Administration & Development
elizabeth@bccfoundation.org or 269.962.2181 x 140

22



Fund Statement
Willard Library Fund - Organizational

For the Period October 01, 2023 - December 31, 2023
Generated on: 01/25/2024

Current Period
October 01, 2023 - 

December 31, 2023

Year To Date
April 01, 2023 - 

December 31, 2023

Beginning Fund Balance $3,047.21 $3,168.14
ADDITIONS:

 Investment Earnings 275.47 300.87

Total Additions 275.47 300.87

DISTRIBUTIONS:
 Administrative Fees 8.12 24.43

 Bank & Merchant Service Fees 0.02 0.04

 Grants Awarded 0.00 130.00

Total Distributions 8.14 154.47
Ending Fund Balance $3,314.54 $3,314.54

This statement is preliminary and unaudited.

Accumulated Gifts & Contributions to Principal 11,955.00

Accumulated Earnings less Expenditures (8,640.46)

Accumulated Spendable 0.00

Ending Fund Balance $3,314.54

23



Fund Activity
Willard Library Fund - Organizational

For the Period October 01, 2023 - December 31, 2023
Generated on: 01/25/2024

GIFTS AND GRANTS RECEIVED DETAIL

No gifts or grants received this period.

GRANTS AWARDED DETAIL

No grants awarded for the statement period.

24



Battle Creek Community Foundation    32 West Michigan Avenue, Suite 1     Battle Creek, Michigan 49017
Phone: (269) 962-2181     Fax: (269) 962-2182     Email: development@bccfoundation.org     Website: www.bccfoundation.org

Katherine A Domenico
Director of Finance
Willard Library
7 W Van Buren St
Battle Creek, MI 49017

Quarterly Report - Willard Library Fund - Third Party
October 01, 2023 - December 31, 2023
Thank you for being our partner in philanthropy by establishing a fund with the Battle Creek Community Foundation 
(BCCF). Your Fund’s statement of activity for October 01, 2023 - December 31, 2023 is enclosed.  

Investment Performance and Oversight
The Battle Creek Community Foundation portfolio returned 9.52%* compared to a market benchmark of 9.75% for 
the quarter ended December 31, 2023. Total Fiscal YTD returns from April 1, 2023 – December 31, 2023, are 
10.16%. The rate of return is reflected in the “Investment Earnings” section of the enclosed fund statement. *The 
actual value of the return for this fund may vary from the overall portfolio due to the timing of contributions to and 
distributions from the fund.

IRA Charitable Distribution Limit Increase
Did you know that for donors 70 ½ that qualify to make charitable distributions from their IRAs, that in 2024, IRA 
qualified charitable distribution (QCD) transfers for outright gifts are now permitted up to $105,000 and up to 
$53,000 for the one-time election of a QCD to a Charitable Gift Annuity or Charitable Remainder Trust.

Volunteers Needed
Did you know that BCCF has over 20 volunteer led committees that support the operations, grantmaking and 
scholarship functions of the Foundation? If you or someone you know is interested in learning more about 
volunteering on one of these committees, please contact Danni at danni@bccfoundation.org. 

As always please contact us should you have questions regarding your statement or if we can be of further assistance 
to you. 

Elizabeth Schultheiss, VP of Fund Administration & Development
elizabeth@bccfoundation.org or 269.962.2181 x 140

25



Fund Statement
Willard Library Fund - Third Party

For the Period October 01, 2023 - December 31, 2023
Generated on: 01/25/2024

Current Period
October 01, 2023 - 

December 31, 2023

Year To Date
April 01, 2023 - 

December 31, 2023

Beginning Fund Balance $841,051.98 $875,506.31
ADDITIONS:

 Investment Earnings 76,039.87 83,100.74

Total Additions 76,039.87 83,100.74

DISTRIBUTIONS:
 Administrative Fees 2,097.33 6,317.00

 Bank & Merchant Service Fees 4.92 10.45

 Grants Awarded 0.00 37,290.00

Total Distributions 2,102.25 43,617.45
Ending Fund Balance $914,989.60 $914,989.60

This statement is preliminary and unaudited.

Accumulated Gifts & Contributions to Principal 793,211.04

Accumulated Earnings less Expenditures 121,778.56

Accumulated Spendable 0.00

Ending Fund Balance $914,989.60

26



Fund Activity
Willard Library Fund - Third Party

For the Period October 01, 2023 - December 31, 2023
Generated on: 01/25/2024

GIFTS AND GRANTS RECEIVED DETAIL

No gifts or grants received this period.

GRANTS AWARDED DETAIL

No grants awarded for the statement period.

27



Battle Creek Community Foundation    32 West Michigan Avenue, Suite 1     Battle Creek, Michigan 49017
Phone: (269) 962-2181     Fax: (269) 962-2182     Email: development@bccfoundation.org     Website: www.bccfoundation.org

Katherine A Domenico
Director of Finance
Willard Library
7 W Van Buren St
Battle Creek, MI 49017

Quarterly Report - Willard Library/Campbell Fund
October 01, 2023 - December 31, 2023
Thank you for being our partner in philanthropy by establishing a fund with the Battle Creek Community Foundation 
(BCCF). Your Fund’s statement of activity for October 01, 2023 - December 31, 2023 is enclosed.  

Investment Performance and Oversight
The Battle Creek Community Foundation portfolio returned 9.52%* compared to a market benchmark of 9.75% for 
the quarter ended December 31, 2023. Total Fiscal YTD returns from April 1, 2023 – December 31, 2023, are 
10.16%. The rate of return is reflected in the “Investment Earnings” section of the enclosed fund statement. *The 
actual value of the return for this fund may vary from the overall portfolio due to the timing of contributions to and 
distributions from the fund.

IRA Charitable Distribution Limit Increase
Did you know that for donors 70 ½ that qualify to make charitable distributions from their IRAs, that in 2024, IRA 
qualified charitable distribution (QCD) transfers for outright gifts are now permitted up to $105,000 and up to 
$53,000 for the one-time election of a QCD to a Charitable Gift Annuity or Charitable Remainder Trust.

Volunteers Needed
Did you know that BCCF has over 20 volunteer led committees that support the operations, grantmaking and 
scholarship functions of the Foundation? If you or someone you know is interested in learning more about 
volunteering on one of these committees, please contact Danni at danni@bccfoundation.org. 

As always please contact us should you have questions regarding your statement or if we can be of further assistance 
to you. 

Elizabeth Schultheiss, VP of Fund Administration & Development
elizabeth@bccfoundation.org or 269.962.2181 x 140

28



Fund Statement
Willard Library/Campbell Fund

For the Period October 01, 2023 - December 31, 2023
Generated on: 01/25/2024

Current Period
October 01, 2023 - 

December 31, 2023

Year To Date
April 01, 2023 - 

December 31, 2023

Beginning Fund Balance $50,133.81 $51,850.12
ADDITIONS:

 Gifts and Grants Received 0.00 203.09

 Investment Earnings 4,535.65 4,949.79

Total Additions 4,535.65 5,152.88

DISTRIBUTIONS:
 Administrative Fees 68.03 204.75

 Bank & Merchant Service Fees 0.29 7.11

 Grants Awarded 0.00 2,190.00

Total Distributions 68.32 2,401.86
Ending Fund Balance $54,601.14 $54,601.14

This statement is preliminary and unaudited.

Accumulated Gifts & Contributions to Principal 41,943.78

Accumulated Earnings less Expenditures 12,657.36

Accumulated Spendable 0.00

Ending Fund Balance $54,601.14

29



Fund Activity
Willard Library/Campbell Fund

For the Period October 01, 2023 - December 31, 2023
Generated on: 01/25/2024

GIFTS AND GRANTS RECEIVED DETAIL

No gifts or grants received this period.

GRANTS AWARDED DETAIL

No grants awarded for the statement period.

30



Battle Creek Community Foundation    32 West Michigan Avenue, Suite 1     Battle Creek, Michigan 49017
Phone: (269) 962-2181     Fax: (269) 962-2182     Email: development@bccfoundation.org     Website: www.bccfoundation.org

Katherine A Domenico
Director of Finance
Willard Library
7 W Van Buren St
Battle Creek, MI 49017

Quarterly Report - Willard Library/Denman Fund
October 01, 2023 - December 31, 2023
Thank you for being our partner in philanthropy by establishing a fund with the Battle Creek Community Foundation 
(BCCF). Your Fund’s statement of activity for October 01, 2023 - December 31, 2023 is enclosed.  

Investment Performance and Oversight
The Battle Creek Community Foundation portfolio returned 9.52%* compared to a market benchmark of 9.75% for 
the quarter ended December 31, 2023. Total Fiscal YTD returns from April 1, 2023 – December 31, 2023, are 
10.16%. The rate of return is reflected in the “Investment Earnings” section of the enclosed fund statement. *The 
actual value of the return for this fund may vary from the overall portfolio due to the timing of contributions to and 
distributions from the fund.

IRA Charitable Distribution Limit Increase
Did you know that for donors 70 ½ that qualify to make charitable distributions from their IRAs, that in 2024, IRA 
qualified charitable distribution (QCD) transfers for outright gifts are now permitted up to $105,000 and up to 
$53,000 for the one-time election of a QCD to a Charitable Gift Annuity or Charitable Remainder Trust.

Volunteers Needed
Did you know that BCCF has over 20 volunteer led committees that support the operations, grantmaking and 
scholarship functions of the Foundation? If you or someone you know is interested in learning more about 
volunteering on one of these committees, please contact Danni at danni@bccfoundation.org. 

As always please contact us should you have questions regarding your statement or if we can be of further assistance 
to you. 

Elizabeth Schultheiss, VP of Fund Administration & Development
elizabeth@bccfoundation.org or 269.962.2181 x 140

31



Fund Statement
Willard Library/Denman Fund

For the Period October 01, 2023 - December 31, 2023
Generated on: 01/25/2024

Current Period
October 01, 2023 - 

December 31, 2023

Year To Date
April 01, 2023 - 

December 31, 2023

Beginning Fund Balance $92,997.65 $96,560.08
ADDITIONS:

 Investment Earnings 8,413.56 9,186.30

Total Additions 8,413.56 9,186.30

DISTRIBUTIONS:
 Administrative Fees 126.62 381.18

 Bank & Merchant Service Fees 0.54 1.15

 Grants Awarded 0.00 4,080.00

Total Distributions 127.16 4,462.33
Ending Fund Balance $101,284.05 $101,284.05

This statement is preliminary and unaudited.

Accumulated Gifts & Contributions to Principal 70,797.47

Accumulated Earnings less Expenditures 30,486.58

Accumulated Spendable 0.00

Ending Fund Balance $101,284.05

32



Fund Activity
Willard Library/Denman Fund

For the Period October 01, 2023 - December 31, 2023
Generated on: 01/25/2024

GIFTS AND GRANTS RECEIVED DETAIL

No gifts or grants received this period.

GRANTS AWARDED DETAIL

No grants awarded for the statement period.

33



MR. MATTHEW WILLIS 
WILLARD LIBRARY 
7 WEST VANBUREN STREET 
BATTLE CREEK, MI  49017 

DEAR MATTHEW: 

ENCLOSED ARE THE ORIGINAL AND ONE COPY OF THE 2022 EXEMPT ORGANIZATION RETURN, 
AS FOLLOWS...

2022 FORM 990

INSTRUCTIONS FOR FILING THE ABOVE FORM ARE FURNISHED FOR EASY REFERENCE.  YOUR 
COPY SHOULD BE RETAINED FOR YOUR FILES.

FOR ANY FORM IN THIS PACKAGE THAT REQUIRES MAILING, WE RECOMMEND THAT YOU USE 
CERTIFIED MAIL WITH POSTMARKED RECEIPTS FOR PROOF OF TIMELY FILING. 

WE SINCERELY APPRECIATE THE OPPORTUNITY TO SERVE YOU.  PLEASE CONTACT US IF 
YOU HAVE ANY QUESTIONS CONCERNING THE TAX RETURN.

VERY TRULY YOURS, 

PLANTE & MORAN, PLLC 

34



TAX RETURN FILING INSTRUCTIONS
FORM 990

FOR THE YEAR ENDING
JUNE 30, 2023 

PREPARED FOR:

MR. MATTHEW WILLIS
WILLARD LIBRARY
7 WEST VANBUREN STREET
BATTLE CREEK, MI  49017

PREPARED BY:

PLANTE & MORAN, PLLC
750 TRADE CENTRE WAY, STE. 300
PORTAGE, MI  49002

AMOUNT DUE OR REFUND:

NOT APPLICABLE

MAKE CHECK PAYABLE TO:

NOT APPLICABLE

MAIL TAX RETURN AND CHECK (IF APPLICABLE) TO:

NOT APPLICABLE 

RETURN MUST BE MAILED ON OR BEFORE:

NOT APPLICABLE 

SPECIAL INSTRUCTIONS:

THIS RETURN HAS QUALIFIED FOR ELECTRONIC FILING.  AFTER YOU HAVE 
REVIEWED THE RETURN FOR COMPLETENESS AND ACCURACY, PLEASE SIGN, 
DATE AND RETURN FORM 8879-TE TO OUR OFFICE.  WE WILL TRANSMIT THE 
RETURN ELECTRONICALLY TO THE IRS.  RETURN FORM 8879-TE TO US BY MAY 
15, 2024.  

AN ADDITIONAL COPY HAS BEEN PROVIDED TO FILE WITH THE STATE
ATTORNEY GENERAL OFFICE. PLEASE SIGN, DATE AND FORWARD USING ONE
OF THE METHODS LISTED ON THE ATTORNEY GENERAL COPY COVER LETTER.

35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



Proposed Updates to the Willard Library Board of Trustees Policy Manual 

Entire Document - Gender Neutral 

• Every instance of “his or her” changed to “their”
• Every instance of “he or she” changed to “they”

Section I - Mission and Vision Statements 

• Replaced Mission with Purpose Statement and add Values

Section IV, Policy “O” - Progressive Discipline 

• Updated the Progressive Discipline Policy
o Added HR Benefits Team to first step
o Reduced steps from four to three

67



68



69



70



71



REPORTS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
March 2024 

DIRECTOR’S REPORT: Matt Willis, Director 
• Communico
• Battle Creek Did Not Burn
• HR Benefits Team Training
• Support Staff Bargaining
• Library Design Update

PROGRAMMING UPDATE: Matt Willis, Director 
• Out of Our Past
• African American Celebration – A’Lelia Bundles

ADMINISTRATIVE UPDATE: April Dillinger, Deputy Director 
• Staff Appreciation Week

YOUTH SERVICES UPDATE: April Dillinger, Deputy Director 
• Solar Eclipse Glasses
• March is Reading Month
• Spring Break Programs

72




